
Passing of a Pioneer.

Death of Sir John Campbell — The

Father of Auckland and the City's
Greatest Benefactor.

IT was a beautiful day when we set

out. Ju fact, it was always beauti-

ful weather whenever we started

on a journey in those far-off days,
because wc always waited for a

fine day — time was of little ac-

count.” Thus wrote Sir John Logan
Campbell about the setting-out of
a little party from Waiau (Coromandel)
io visit for the first time the Waitemata,
of which they had heard such glorious
accounts. And now the Father of Auck-

land has set out on his last long journ-
ney alone, in the ehill of ITie year, with

his beloved Waitemata lying grey be-
neath the winter sun. and Maungakiekie
standing out against a sombre western
sky.

The Grand Old Man. full of years and

honour, passed peacefully away in his

sleep on Saturday morning just la-fore the

dawn,when the watersof the Waitemata,

upon which he has looked out sooften from

his home on the cliff, were just at the
last of the ebb. The tide and his daunt-

less spirit went out together, but not

until the Waitemata forgets to return
twice every day to the scenes he loved

so well will his name pass into oblivion.

Sir John's connection with Auckland

is unique. Perhaps few of us realise the

remarkable position he occupied. Over

seventy years ago, a young Scotch doc-

tor who had left the Old Country to

•try his fortune in the new land, he

climbed to the top of Mount Hobson
with a companion—a man bearing the

not uncommon nanie of Brown. While
they were admiring the matchless view

they saw a schooner come into the har-

bour and drop anchor off Orakei. They
afterwards learned that on board were

the officials from the capital at Korora-
Teka sent down to purchase from the

natives a strip of laud right across the
isthmus for the purpose of building the
new capita], it having been decided to
remove the centre of affairs from the
Bay of Islands. In fact, as Sir John
tells very amusingly in his charming
book “Poenamo," he- handled some of

the very sovereigns that formed part, of
the payment for the hind. -It seems

almost incredible that a man should
have witnessed such an incident and
lived to see Auckland attain its present
size and importance. What was once a

waste of fern, with a few scattered
Maori nhares, has grown into a C ity of a

hundred thousand people, with houses
>• 1retrliing right across the istlunus from
water to water. Up till a few days ago
the old gentleman, a pathetic figure, al-
most blind, feeble and tottering, neces-

sitating a strong arm to lean on, but
with his leonine features and snow-

white locks, making a pietureisque and
noble figure, used to he driven down to
the dingy little office in .Shortland-street,
•still bearing the well-remembered name.

‘‘Brown and Campbell,” though it has
not been a firm for many years. No-

thing prevented him making his daily
pilgrimage to the spot, dingy but clust-
ered with many memories, where, in

1840, the firm set up business in a tent.
Sir John had never been really ill tn

his life before he bad to take to his be.l
a few days ago. fie had a wonderful
constitution, and in spite of the strenu-
ous life lie led in the old pioneering days,
he was an absolute stranger to the hun-
dred and one infirmities which are usu-

ally accepted as the inevitable compan-
ions of advancing years. The gallant old
man just faded away in the end. and it
was never written, with more truth, “His
end was peace.”

The past history of such a man is
full of interest. Sir John L. Camp-
bell, M.D.. M.R.C.S.. born in November,
1817, was the only son of the late John
Campbell. Esq., M.D.. of Edinburgh, and

grandson of the late Sir James Campbell,
Bart., of Abernehill and Kilbryde. Perth-
shire. Sir John came of an ancient and

honourable Scottish lino. He was edu-
cated in Edinburgh, and took the degree
of M.D. at its University, then the first

medical school of the Kingdom. Having
been bitten with the mania which pre-
vailed in the Old Country in 1838-39 for
emigrating to Australia, where everyone
was to make a fortune in a few years by
wool-growing, lie threw up a commission
■n the East India Company's service and

sailed from Greenock. July. 1839, in the

•ship Palmyra. Captain Brown, bound for

Adelaide, Melbourne, and Sydney, with

emigrants and cargo. lie was the medi-

cal officer in charge of the ship. The
first part of the voyage was rather an

exciting one. for a collision occurred six
days out, and the foremast and main-
topmast were carried away, and the ship
had to put back to Greenock for repairs.
Tn due course the’ Palmyra arrived at

Sydney. After a visit- to the .Bathurst
Plains (where he had an opportunity of
studying the convict element of the
colony), he gave up the idea of sheep and

cattle-raising and farming in Australia,
and determined to try his fortunes in the

new colony of New Zealand.

First Business Venture.

Sir John and his partner were so m.

pressed with the idea on the slopes ot

the Waitemata the future cap.tai would

be fixed that they purchased from the

natives the little island of Motu-Korea

(Brown’s Island) and came up in their

canoe in August and lived there.

In December. 1840. .Sir John left

the island and pitched ilis tent, in

Commercial Bay. Auckland. The tide

then washed the beach where the

Post Office in ■.Shortland-street now

stands. The doctor threw aside his

profession and started the firm of

Brown and Campbell. The firm pur-
chased at the first town sale (April,
1841) the allotment on which it has ever

since conducted its business. In 1848,
after a nine years' absence from the Old

Country, he left the colony on a visit

Home, going through Torres Straits to

India, thence via the Red Sea to Suez,
and making the ascent of the Nile to
the second Cataract in Nubia. There-

after he toured Greece, the Bosphorus,
and went through Europe, travelling con-

tinuously for 15 months before reaching
Home. He returned to Auckland at the

end of 1850, and in 1851 paid a short

business visit to San Francisco.

Political and Public Career.

In 1855 Sir John entered the field of

polities. He contested successfully the

Superintendence of Auckland with Mr

Whitaker, and at the same time was

returned at the head of the poll as a

member of the House of Representatives
for Auckland. In 1855. also, he started

the rifle-shooting and volunteer move-

ment -in Auckland, thus inaugurating at
the Antipodes the citizen-soldier move-

ment long before it was begun in .Eng-
land. He was a Minister without port-
folio in the -Stafford-Riehmond-Sewell-
Whitaker Cabinet on the introduction
of responsible Government. He resigned
the .Superintendency and seat in the
Cabinet towards the end of 185G, and
again went to the Mother Country. In

1859 he once more entered the House
as member for Parnell (elected un-

opposed). It was on this occasion that
he took an active part with Mr Thos.

Russell and Mr James Williamson in

starting the Bank of New Zealand.
In 1861 he again returned to Europe,

with the intention of taking a lon™ holi-

day, which was prolonged to nine years,
spent chiefly on the Continent, and not-
ably in Italy. In 1871 he returned to Auck-
land, and has resided ever since.

Among the public positions held bv
Sir John Campbell in past years was
the chairmanship of tiie Auckland Board
of Education, president of the Chamber
of Commerce, president of the Northern
Club, president of the Scenery Conserva-
tion Society, and Mayor of Auckland
during the year when the Duke and
Duchess of Cornwall and York visited
this city. He was also a prominent mem-
ber of the Auckland Institute, Acclima-
tisation Society, and other institutions.
He has at various times been chairman
of many local bodies, and has conducted
a successful business ever since Auck
land s inception. He was a vice-president
of the Auckland Savings Bank, and chair-
man of directors of the Campbell-Ehien-
fried Brewery Company.

Early Volunteer Movement.
Sir John Campbell resigned the Siqier-

intendency of Auckland on November 17,
1856, in order to pay a visit to Europe,

but he made that year memorable by the

act of his long life upon which he most-

prided himself, and for good reason, for
by his formation of the Rifle Corps ot

1856 he anticipated by some three years
the great volunteer movement ot the

Hinted Kingdom. The local chi Im had

shot for prizes of honour presented by
.Sir John ( ampbell in 1856, which are stilt

shot for to-day, the winner receiving an

artistic, silver medal, which he retains.

His Marriage.

Tlie doctor claimed his bride at- the
hands of Judge Wilson of Maradabad

(later a prominent personage in Chri’f-
church, and known to New Zealanders
as Sir Cracroft Wilson. C.8.. K.C.S7IJ.
the marriage taking place at Meerut.
Lady Campbell had been one of the re-

fugees who escaped to the hills at Nai-
nee Tai, where all were shut up for manv

inonths until the mutiny was partially
quelled.

Mayor in the Royal Year.

When the Prince and Princess-of Wales
decided to visit Auckland, and the vac-

ancy of the Mayoralty exercised the
citizens as to who would be the fitting
person to receive their Royal Highnesses
and to present the address of welcome,
it was held to be natural an 1 right that
Auckland s oldest and most prominent
eitzen should don the Mayoral rob s in
the Royal year, and the citizens hailed

his installation as Mayor on Mav 8,
1901, with emphatic approval. Sir John

accepted office on the condition that, he
Would be allowed to retire three month-
after holding office and the appointment
of a capable deputy, who was Mr. Alfred
Kidd. Dr. (ampbell, for his part-, was

as proud as any free man who boasted in
old times Civis Romanns sum. And so
not only did he head the citizens as their
thief Magistrate in welcoming the heir
to the throne at the gates of the city,
but- he marked the occasion by a magni-
ficent gift to the people of New Zealand.

The doctor was knighted on -lune 26,
1902, and no honour that has been be-
stowed by the King has ever given more

general satisfaction in New Zealand.

His Residences in Auckland.
The first residence of Sir John Camp-

bell in Auckland was a tent-, the next a

raupo whare, erected just above the
water’s edge in Shortland Street, next-

’’Acacia Cottage,"- followed bv "Logan
Bank, and finally* "Kilbrvde.” "Logan
Bank is still standing in Jermvn Street,
and is at present used as a boarding-
house.

Sir John selected the new site of the
future home at One-tree Hill, and the

present Cornwall Park drive was planted
in anticipation. Thus it is that the
avenue then planted lias become
Cornwall Park Drive. and which

will remain so until the future
Grand Avenue replaces it. Sub-

sequently he decided to reside nearer

the city, and "Kilbryde” was erected on

a beautiful site in Parnell.
The promontory now known as Camp

bell’s Point was originally covered with

tea-tree and low, tough scrub, and ex

posed to all the winds that blew. When

its owner began building on it it was

a bleak place, and not at all inviting
to a good many- of Sir John’s friends,
who candidly expressed their views on

the subject. But he knew very well

wiiat could be made of the place, and

almost foresaw what a beautiful home
it would lieeome in time. He could see

from the point the little bay where

he first landed, in 1840, and he had an

uninterrupted view of his first love.
Motu Korea, where he began settlement;
looking to the westward he could see

the city of Auckland, still growing and

extending in every direction, even over

the shallow foreshore of the harbour;
and he was perfectly content with the
prospect.

With hi- own axe lie cut down the

scrub and hewed out |>aths along the

edge of the cliff from one side round to

the other. He planted maeroearpa.

Pinus insignis, and other shade trees,
and here and there left native trees

io themselves. Sir John was his own

architect for "Kilbryde.” Notwithstand-
ing the Scottish name of the house it

is Italian in style, both within and with-
out. This is not to be wondered al,
when it- is considered that its designer
had spent nine years in Italy before
he built it. and could not have entirely’

escaped the influence of the art. of that

country. Besides, the Waitemata, as

seen from "Kilbryde," with the sym-

metrical cone of Rangiloto in the back
ground, immediately suggests the coast

of Italy to anyone who has seen it.

The first house built in Auckland w.

Sir John's home, and it still stands ■
. its original site in O’Connell Street, a

the head of Vulcan Lane. It was creete

70 years ago by Sir John and his par

ner, Mr. Brown, and as the father

Auckland often afterwards related, it

was looked upon in those days—lB4l —

as quite a mansion. The timber was •> ’
sawn heart of kauri, and was carried b

the two builders on their backs from the
beach to the site on which the bud ling
was erected. It was only a two-roome I
house, but it was the very first to be

built, and when Sir John moved from h:s

raupo whare to “Acaeia Cottage.” th-.-
occasion was deemed to be indeed a

memorable one. The house has been in

continuous occupation ever since, and -
to-day occupied by one of the Campbel
Ehrenfried employees. The timber «

still as sound, apparently, as the di.

that this historical cottage was built

and the question arises whether, in vie v

of the associations attaching to it. ths
little building should not be seeu-e

and preserved as a historical relie for th?

city. On its present site it bears strange

contrast, and marks with great emphasis
the difference between the old and the
new. For it is now surrounded bv the
finest and biggest of Auckland’s bud!

in-is. and is diiyetlv overlooked by- the

city s tallest sky-scraper —monuments of
the wonderful progress of the city in a
I ifet ime.

A Magnificent Gift.

The culminating incident in the great
interest always taken by Sir John in

Auckland—which he liked to call the
"Corinth of the South" was his truly
noble gift of Cornwall Park to the

people. This glorious stretch of country,
overlooked by Maungakiekie (One-tree

Hill), is the gem of the Tamaki Isthmus,
and no such heritage has ever been lie-
stowed upon a city in any other part
of the Dominion. It was on this grand
mountain that Sir John hoped to build
the ideal home he had planned for him-

self. and the pohutukawa tree on the
terrace near the tea kiosk marks the

spot he had chosen as the site. Few
people are aware how nearly- was this

magnificent estate lost to Sir John and
so to the people. In the ’eighties Sir
John sustained heavy commercial. losses,
and it looked quite possible that all the
labours of his past years would In-

swept away, but he faced the situation
with the determination that marked
the rest of his long career, and reducing
hi.- personal exjienses to an amount

equal to a clerk’s salary, he weath red
the storm, and this priceless park was

saved. It was during the visit of th-
Prince and Princess of Wales to Auck-

land that -Sir John handed to them th
title deeds of the Park, which he In-'
stowed on Auckland, .and he named i
After the city’s Royal visitors. At
the time the event was, perhap-, some
what overshadowed by the presence o
the Prince and Princess, but when th
people realised the unexampled munifi-
cence of the donor, they were astound d
at the grandeur of ’the benefaction
l.here. is probably not another park
like it in the world the gift of on
man to his fellow citizen-.

< >n May 24th, six years ago. there was

unveiled at. the Epsom entrance to the*
park a bronze statue of the donor, erect-’
cd by public subscript ion as (he res’.il:
of a suggestion from theHon. E. Mite!i<-1
•son made at the opening of the drive to
the park in 190;!. Sir John was on the
occasion of the unveiling the recipien
of an ovation whs-h was most tonchin*-
in its warmth and snontaneil v.

A Fitting Resting-place.

At the request of many leading eiii
reus, who recognised that the only fit-,
ting resting-place for tin- remains of
Auckland’s benefactor was Maungakie-
kie, the crowning glory of his noble gift
to the people of New Zealand, arrange
iiients were made for his interment
there, the necessary pcrmi--ioii having
been obtained from the (Government and

the local authorities.

The funeral took place yesterday
(Tuesday), and tin- cortege was the

longest and most representative ever

seen in Auckland. The mournful pro-

cession started from ’ Kilbrdyc," the

deceased gentleman’s late residence, am!

f dlowed a route, crowded with people- e*f

reverent, demeanour, through Parnell.
Newmarket, and Epsom tei One Tree

Hill, where the burial temk plaes-. The:

whole solemn scene was an iinpre-i-ive
tribute to the memory of a citizen who
rad lived through the vicissitudes of
early colonisation, who never shirked
serious res|M>nsil>ilities, and gave niunili--
ccntly to the general welfare of the city.
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